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The Humboldt-Forum and its Origins in the Ancient Prussian Kunstkammer

The Staatliche Museen zu Berlin: A universal museum
Supported collectively by the German government and the federal states of Germany, the Staatliche Museen zu Berlin are a national institution. With fifteen collections and four institutes, the Staatliche Museen zu Berlin, which can be translated as the “National Museums in Berlin,” constitute one of the world’s foremost and largest museum collections for the preservation, research and mediation of treasures of art and culture of the entire history of humanity (fig. 1). Comprising more than five million objects and covering about 700,000 years of mankind’s cultural heritage, the institution represents a universal museum site, similar to the British Museum in London, the Metropolitan Museum in New York, or the Hermitage in St. Petersburg. 

Compared to those internationally known museums, the National Museums in Berlin are not limited to just one single museum building but are located in five different areas of the city: in Köpenick, Dahlem, Charlottenburg, and Tiergarten with the Kulturforum as a museum complex close to the Potsdamer Platz, as well as in Mitte with the Museum Island as the most prominent location of the National Museums in Berlin (fig. 2). In close proximity to the Museum Island you can find the origins of the National Museums in Berlin: the former Royal Palace of Berlin (fig. 3). Having been destroyed after the Second World War, the Berlin Palace is currently being rebuilt and is expected to be opened in 2019. Interestingly, it was the Berlin Palace where the princely Kunstkammer (cabinet of art and curiosities) of Joachim II, Elector of Brandenburg, was situated at the beginning of the seventeenth century (fig. 4).

As my following outline will demonstrate this “nucleus Art Chamber” has shaped our time up to today. As a result, it spans a moving history which takes us back to the central idea of the Kunstkammer itself and leads us to the Humboldt-Forum envisioned as a unique center for art, culture, and science.

The Royal Kunstkammer
Thanks to numerous electors and royalties of Brandenburg and Prussia, artificialia, scientifica, and naturalia from all over the world have been collected in Berlin. In the sixteenth century such collections were usually arranged along these lines of objects from the arts, the sciences, and nature. The Berlin Kunstkammer was likewise characterized by this classification scheme—its emphasis, however, lay on the area of artificialia, that is, arts, and this was to define its character through all of its future transformations.

The existence of the Berlin Kunstkammer is all the more remarkable as its primary collection was destroyed to a large extent in the first half of the seventeenth century, during the Thirty Years’ War, so that it had to be founded anew by the Great Elector, Frederick William of Brandenburg (1620–1688), who put it on display in the Royal Palace in the heart of Berlin. Frederick William had a special affinity for non-European artifacts principally from Asia, Africa, and Brazil, as well as for coins, medals, antique sculptures, and artworks of the post-antiquity period. These tendencies were accompanied by an interest in exploring the natural history of the world, not simply limited to malformations and similar “natural wonders,” but also extending to the exemplary investigation of the natural riches as well as the flora and fauna of his territory.

The Pomeranian Art Cabinet as a symbol of the Berlin collection history
The universal endeavor to bring together manifold objects of different natures and functions was manifested through the fundamental idea of the Brandenburgian-Prussian art cabinets. Be it curiosities, rarities, or testimonies from far-away cultures, this diversity was mirrored in a rich and complex presentation at the Royal Palace. At the same time, individual items of the collection repeated this comprehensive idea. One of the most interesting examples in this respect was the Pomeranian Art Cabinet by Philipp Hainhofer (1578–1647), which entered the Prussian collection in 1689 (fig. 5). Itself a miniature Kunstkammer collection, it marks the ideas and principles as well as the eventful history of the Berlin collection. Its luxurious design and its rich content of more than 200 pieces emphasize its significance up to the present day. In an age of discovery and curiosity, it represented an over-spanning extract of the world as a whole, as the art historian Franz Theodor Kugler (1808–1858) already remarked in 1838.

From measurement instruments, drawing devices and practical objects like tableware, or medicinal products and pharmaceuticals, up to elaborate chess and card games, the rich and wide-ranging content opened up a world of its own. Hainhofer himself declared and advertised his cabinets as a “wonder of the world.”
 Indeed, the furniture as well as its most exclusive content not only met the requirements and the taste of high nobilities of its age, but at the same time mirrored the historical discoveries of the rich wonder worlds.
The Pomeranian Art Cabinet, which was destroyed by fire in March 1945, shares the sad fate of many of our collection’s objects, shaped by Berlin’s history of wars and partition, especially during the twentieth century. Fortunately, most parts of the cabinet’s content have survived and are now, as are many other objects of the former Kunstkammer, on display at the Kunstgewerbemuseum (Museum of Decorative Arts) (fig. 6). The history of the Pomeranian Art Cabinet is deeply linked to the Royal Palace in Berlin where it has been on display twice—at first in the early eighteenth century during the first years of the Kunstkammer presentation, and for the second time during the 1920s when, after the November Revolution, the Berlin Palace had been converted to a Palace Museum.
 In 1703, the Pomeranian Art Cabinet was originally exhibited in the newly opened wing of the Palace, where the manifold holdings of the Kunstkammer could claim nine prestigious rooms (fig. 7–8). Andreas Schlüter (ca. 1660–1714), since 1699 the architect in charge of the extension of the Berlin Palace, had conceived a specific interior design that provided a display for the wide range of objects. He also created the rooms dedicated to the exhibition of the cabinet as well as the legendary Amber Room, which was offered to the Russian czar Peter the Great (1672–1725) in 1716.

Financial crisis and new beginning: Jean Henry’s collection politics
Soon after these landmark developments in Prussian architecture and collection politics, the Berlin collection’s peak phase ended. The expensive construction sites initiated by Frederick I (1657–1713) had brought the growth of the Kunstkammer to a preliminary end as early as the eighteenth century. Shortly after the royal coronation in 1701, the Prussian finances were in such a desolate condition that whole parts of the collection were withdrawn from the Berlin Palace. Due to maladministration and nepotism the state was forced to drastic savings and economic rigor. It took nearly a century until the sovereigns started paying attention to their collections again. It was not until 1797 when the newly crowned king Frederick William III (1770–1840) dedicated himself to the collections of the Kunstkammer as well as to the languishing Academy of Science. In the earliest years of his regency, he decided to merge the Kunstkammer and the Academy. This decision not only raised the cultural impact of both institutions, it also led to a productive discussion of the collection’s importance and function and a reorientation towards a public museum under academic supervision.

A central figure in this controversy was Jean Henry (1761–1831). The custodian of the Kunstkammer was able to bring the collections of antique sculpture and coins back to the palace from Potsdam, where they had been moved to. Furthermore, he was the first to develop a collection strategy in the literal sense of the term: in 1804, he named new sections within the collection, i.e. “Non-European Rarities” or “Patrimonial Curiosities.”
 One year later, Henry proposed erecting a royal museum of natural history and art, as the growing collection holdings exceeded the capacities of the rooms available on the mezzanine level of the palace. In opposition to the representatives of the Academy of Science, Henry strived for a universal museum dedicated to a broad audience. Inspired by contemporary concepts of progressive pedagogy, Henry understood the Kunstkammer to be a place for a vivid and ostentatious transfer of knowledge.

The Kunstkammer in the age of the Humboldt brothers
This idea was taken up in 1807 by Alexander von Humboldt (1769–1859) when he presented his innovative museological concept of all the collections located in Berlin to be united under the umbrella of the Academy of Science. Two years later this idea was combined with the scheme of founding a university in Berlin (the present-day Humboldt University), a project supported by Wilhelm von Humboldt (1767–1835) and a group of fellow campaigners. This led to a re-organization of the collection: in 1810 a royal decree had the mineralogical, zoological, and anatomical objects from the palace transferred to the newly founded university and united with the private collections of researchers and of institutions such as the Mining Academy. Only the ground floor in the east wing of the university building was designated for classrooms; the rest, that is, five sixths of the entire building, was intended for the presentation of diverse collection holdings including the impressive Giustiniani collection.

In 1815, Frederick William III had purchased this collection of prestigious masterpieces by Claude Lorrain, Nicholas Poussin, Caravaggio, and many others: they form today the nucleus of the Berlin Gemäldegalerie (Old Master Paintings). Thanks to its multifaceted treasures, the university once more expressed the comprehensive concept of the Kunstkammer. The Berlin Palace continued to provide a crucial exhibition space for the remaining objects, e.g. of art, decorative art, and ethnology. Franz Kugler dedicated his pivotal studies to these collections: in his 1838 essay Kugler emphasized the universal value of the Kunstkammer. With regard to its diversity, he stated that the Kunstkammer “provides in every respect a valuable insight into art life throughout the ages.”
 His Handbuch der Kunstgeschichte (Handbook of Art History), published in 1842, the first truly universal history of art, was based on the objects in the Kunstkammer. Kugler compared all of the world’s visual cultures without placing undue emphasis on the prestige of the Mediterranean cultures.

New exhibition spaces: The Berlin Museum Island
In course of the early nineteenth century, the collection grew increasingly and soon exceeded the available exhibition space. The necessity of gaining more space as well as the aim to strengthen Berlin’s visibility as a cultural metropolis led to new museum buildings, which resulted in the conception of the Museum Island. Like a museum temple, dedicated to the public, Karl Friedrich Schinkel’s (1781–1841) Royal Museum, the present-day Altes Museum, was opened vis-à-vis the palace in 1830. The royal collection was understood as public property, especially after the triumphal return of the objects that were looted by Napoleon (1769–1821) in 1806. The Schinkel building stood for the enlightened idea of a national collection which was accessible to the public for education and enjoyment. The Royal Museum was the first among several museums, which constitute today the Museum Island with its five magnificent institutions. Soon after the opening, Friedrich August Stüler (1800–1865) started with the construction work for the Neues Museum (New Museum) in 1843.
The gradual consolidation of the Egyptian, Greco-Roman, and Northern European antiquities collections, the ethnological works, the collection of plaster casts of sculpture from around the world and the cabinet of prints, together with the art and decorative art objects from the palace, the New Museum formed a highly modern version of the Kunstkammer. Whereas the Royal Museum presented aesthetic ideals, the innovative concept of the New Museum defended and focused the character of the Kunstkammer in a grand style that encompassed the entire world and created a true microcosm.
The unique character of Berlin’s museum history in the nineteenth century is marked by the contradictory interaction of diverging positions. They were driven primarily by the Humboldt brothers: Wilhelm von Humboldt aimed at liberating the aesthetic energy of the objects from all aristocratic, instrumental, and pedagogic ownership—an idea that was realized in the Royal Museum. In contrast, Alexander von Humboldt saw the museum as an organ of reflection on a universal scale, in a tradition ultimately dating back to Gottfried Wilhelm Leibniz (1646–1716), a more global concept that was epitomized in the New Museum. Both positions maintain their significance and support each other in their contrasting approaches. The history of the Berlin museums evolved within the luxury of this conflict.

The future Humboldt-Forum: A modern theater of arts and knowledge
The historiography of European museums customarily regards the transition from the eighteenth to the nineteenth century as a shift from the universal Kunstkammer to more specialized museums. Yet the uninterrupted history of the Berlin Kunstkammer and its collections demonstrates that its encompassing concept retains its effect well into a period when, according to the categories of traditional museum history, it should have long become obsolete. The future Humboldt-Forum’s approach is an undertaking that complies with this tradition, as it aims to be both: an exhibition space for our collections as well as an academic research laboratory (fig. 9). The Humboldt-Forum continues the tradition of the Kunstkammer that ever since its first formulation in the sixteenth century has remained a constant endeavor throughout all of its transformations.

Leibniz described the Kunstkammer as a “Theatrum naturae et artis,” a theater for arts and sciences. In Leibniz’s times, the notion of the theater did not mean a stage for performances but, in a wider sense, a place or a way to intensify the contemplation of an object or an idea. His idea of the Kunstkammer as a theater implied the idea of conveying lively impressions and knowledge of all things.
 The Humboldt-Forum aims to follow this objective: it will take up Leibniz’s idea of the Kunstkammer as an archive, a thinking space, a laboratory, and a theater too. The innovative character of the Humboldt-Forum, however, is evident in the fact that the institution will not merely reproduce a historical cabinet of arts. Instead, the memory of the historical Kunstkammer is to be brought alive in the Humboldt-Forum’s entrance hall. Its extension and position provides the space to do justice to the concept of the Kunstkammer and to its longue durée.

The entrance hall is the centerpiece of this interdisciplinary space for both museum and university (fig. 10). A roofed public meeting place will emerge here and will welcome guests and prepare them for a varied journey of discovery and experience. The encircling galleries offer the space for a mise-en-scène across three floors, in which objects, media and visual installations will continue the principles of the former Kunstkammer. Developments in the history of ideas extending up to the present will be taken up and linked with one another associatively in thematically-grouped niches. A modern theater of knowledge will emerge in this manner from the nucleus of the Kunstkammer, one that invites visitors to explore the concept of the Humboldt-Forum and its humanistic dimensions in an intuitive and playful, as well as a systematic, manner.
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